RECEIVED

10-04-2018

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2016AP002258-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

COREY R. FUGERE,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

On Appeal from an Order of Commitment and an Order Denying Postdisposition Relief, Entered in the Chippewa County Circuit Court, The Honorable Roderick A. Cameron Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

KATHILYNNE A. GROTELUESCHEN Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1085045

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-1770 grotelueschenk@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Should this court exercise its superintending and administrative authority to require circuit courts to personally address a defendant entering a plea of not guilty by reason of mental disease or defect (NGI)¹ to ascertain his understanding of the maximum term of confinement in an institution he faces as a result of his commitment?

The trial court did not decide this issue.

The court of appeals did not decide this issue.

2. For a plea of NGI to be knowing, intelligent, and voluntary under *Bangert*, *Shegrud*, and their progeny, must a circuit court personally address the defendant to determine his understanding of the maximum term of confinement in an institution which could be imposed?

The circuit court held: No.

The court of appeals held: Circuit courts are not required to advise defendants of the maximum commitment they face if found NGI. *State v. Fugere*, 2018 WI App 24, ¶19, 381 Wis. 2d 142, 911 N.W.2d 127 (App. 123). Further, the court reasoned that the

¹ Throughout the brief the phrase "not guilty by reason of mental disease or defect" will be abbreviated as "NGI".

Bangert requirements for a valid plea only apply to matters involving the admission of guilt. *Id*. (App. 123).

3. During the plea colloquy on Mr. Fugere's NGI plea, the circuit court, the state, and Mr. Fugere's attorney told Mr. Fugere that he faced 60 years of supervision when he actually faced a 40 year commitment to an institution. Was Mr. Fugere's NGI plea knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily made?

The trial court held: Yes, because it was not necessary to advise Mr. Fugere of the commitment he faced in order for his NGI plea to be knowing, intelligent, and voluntary.

The court of appeals held: The circuit court informed Mr. Fugere of the potential prison sentence he faced and was not required to also inform him of the maximum commitment he faced if found NGI. Fugere, 2018 WI App 24, \P 9, 25. (App. 120, 130). Therefore, the incorrect information provided about the commitment period did not render his plea unknowing, unintelligent, or involuntary. *Id.*, \P 25 (App. 130-131).

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Given the court's grant of review, both oral argument and publication are warranted.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On April 22, 2015, the state filed a criminal complaint charging Corey R. Fugere with four counts of first degree sexual assault of a child under the age of twelve, two as a party to the crime. (1:1-2).

Fugere's case resolved with a plea agreement under which Mr. Fugere was to enter a plea of not guilty by reason of mental disease or defect (NGI) to Count 1, and the remaining three counts would be dismissed and read in. (22). The parties further agreed that both would stipulate, "based upon the information and findings in Chippewa County Case No. 11 CF 216", that, due to a mental disease or defect. Mr. Fugere lacked substantial capacity to appreciate the wrongfulness of his conduct or conform his conduct to the requirements of the law. (22) Finally, both parties agreed to recommend that a pre-dispositional investigation be completed and Mr. Fugere be committed to the State of Wisconsin department of health services for 30 years. (22).

At the plea hearing on August 25, 2015, Mr. Fugere entered a plea of "guilty by reason of mental disease or defect." (84:6). The circuit court engaged in a plea colloquy with Mr. Fugere, explaining, among other things, that upon being found "guilty by reason of mental disease or defect" he could be placed on supervision for up to 60 years. (84:7-12; App. 103). During the plea colloquy, both the state and Mr. Fugere's attorney joined the circuit

court in misinforming Mr. Fugere of the consequences of his plea. The circuit court and parties stated:

THE COURT: You are not actually going

to be found guilty of the charge today. You are going to be found guilty by reason of mental disease or defect, which is a bit different, but means you could be placed on supervision for up to

30~years.

[ADA] NEWELL: Sixty years is the

maximum.

THE COURT: Sixty years, but the

recommendation is 30 years, do you understand

that?

[MR. FUGERE]: Yes.

THE COURT: Do you have any questions?

[MR. FUGERE]: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: You've been on a

conditional release on a different case here before,

right?

[MR. FUGERE]: Yes.

THE COURT: Do you understand what

that's all about?

[MR. FUGERE]: Yes.

• • •

THE COURT: Did you explain to

[Mr. Fugere] the maximum penalty, which is actually

60 years here?

[ATTY.] MORIN: Yes.

THE COURT: And did you explain to him

the elements of the offense?

[ATTY.] MORIN: I did. Also would like to

make a brief record, if I

could.

THE COURT: Go ahead. Speak loudly. We

have a lawnmower outside.

[ATTY.] MORIN: Your Honor, this is pretty

serious because it exposes Mr. Fugere to some 30 more years of supervision, could be possibly 60 years. If he was found not guilty of this, his supervision would end in 2017. Because he knows if he violates any rules of supervision, he could end up back at Mendota or Winnebago during the next 60 years, I think it's important to make a record

here.

(84:12-14; App.103-105)(emphasis added). After this exchange, the circuit court found Mr. Fugere not guilty by reason of mental disease or defect on Count 1, dismissed and read in the remaining counts, and ordered that Mr. Fugere be committed for 30 years and that a predisposition investigation be prepared. (84:18-21).

An order of commitment was entered, specifying that Mr. Fugere's commitment was to commence on August 24, 2015, and run concurrent with any other NGI commitments he was serving. (23; App. 101).

On October 15, 2015, after a hearing, the circuit court entered an order for placement, placing Mr. Fugere in institutional care. (34).

Mr. Fugere subsequently filed a motion for plea withdrawal asserting that he was entitled to withdraw his NGI plea under *Bangert*,² as it was not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily entered. (61). Specifically, Mr. Fugere alleged that the court had misinformed him about the maximum term of commitment he faced and he did not otherwise know what the correct maximum term of commitment was. (61). Everyone at the plea hearing was under the impression that the maximum term of commitment Mr. Fugere faced was 60 years, when in fact, the maximum commitment available for his offense was 40 years. (61); *See* Wis. Stats. §§ 971.17(1)(b), 948.02(1)(b), 973.01(2)(b).

The state opposed Mr. Fugere's motion, arguing that Mr. Fugere was informed of the correct maximum sentence he faced if convicted and that the court was not required to inform him of the maximum commitment he faced if found NGI. (66).

² State v. Bangert, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986).

A hearing on Mr. Fugere's motion for plea withdrawal was held on November 9, 2016. (86). The state conceded that Mr. Fugere did not know that the maximum term of commitment he faced was 40 years. (86:4; App. 109). The circuit court then denied the motion, explaining:

I think, given the fact that there's no requirement to provide a defendant the maximum amount of time for a confinement or commitment time on an NGI when he's told he's going to get a certain amount against that amount, I think that's distinguishable from the maximum amount of time partly because confinement is not a sentence and partly because he's getting exactly what he expected to get regardless of how much more time he could have gotten. So I believe under that analysis, that the motion is to be denied.

(86:9; App. 114).

Mr. Fugere appealed, renewing his argument that for an NGI plea to be knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily entered under *Bangert* and its progeny, a circuit court must inform the defendant of the maximum possible term of commitment.

In a decision dated March 6, 2018, the court of appeals affirmed the circuit court's decision. *State v. Fugere*, 2018 WI App 24, 381 Wis. 2d 142, 911 N.W.2d 127. (App. 118-131). In doing so the court of appeals held:

We conclude that while a circuit court must correctly advise a defendant pleading NGI of the maximum term of imprisonment he or she faces, a court's failure to accurately advise a defendant of his or her possible civil commitment term does NGI plea render an unknowing, unintelligent, or involuntary. The safeguards required for a valid plea apply only to the guilty phase of an NGI plea, and an individual's possible civil commitment resulting from an acquittal during the subsequent mental responsibility phase is neither a "punishment" nor a direct consequence of a defendant pleading guilty or no contest during the guilt phase. Therefore, a circuit court need not advise a defendant regarding his or her possible civil commitment - much less do so accurately - in order for a defendant's NGI plea to be knowing, intelligent, and voluntary.

Id., ¶2. (App. 120).

This court accepted review of the case on September 4, 2018.

ARGUMENT

T. This court should exercise its superintending and administrative authority to clarify or extend the rule pronounced in Shegrud and require circuit courts to personally advise a defendant entering an NGI plea of the maximum term of confinement in an institution which may be imposed if he is found NGI.

"Commitment for any purpose constitutes a significant deprivation of liberty that requires due process protection." *Addington v. Texas*, 441 U.S. 418, 425, 99 S.Ct. 1804, 1809, 60 L.Ed.2d 323 (1979).

In Wisconsin, "[a] person is not responsible for criminal conduct if at the time of such conduct as a result of mental disease or defect the person lacked substantial capacity either to appreciate the wrongfulness of his or her conduct or conform his or her conduct to the requirements of law." Wis. Stat. § 971.15(1). If a defendant is able to establish this defense, however, he is not set free. Rather, a defendant found to be NGI is committed to the department of health services and faces a significant deprivation of liberty – confinement in an institution for a period up to the maximum confinement in prison he would have faced if convicted of the crimes

for which he was found $NGI.^3$ See Wis. Stat. $\S 971.17(1)(b)$.

Because a defendant waives several constitutional rights by entering an NGI plea, and faces this significant deprivation of liberty, due process requires that his NGI plea be knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily entered, with a full understanding of the consequences of his plea, including the maximum term of confinement in an institution he faces if committed.

A. Overview of Wisconsin's NGI law.

Wisconsin courts recognize four distinct pleas in criminal proceedings: guilty, not guilty, no contest, and not guilty by reason of mental disease or defect (NGI). Wis. Stat. § 971.06(1). A plea of NGI may be coupled with a plea of not guilty, or may be entered as a plea of its own.⁴ Wis. Stat. § 971.06(1)(2). When an NGI plea is entered the defendant is asserting an affirmative defense which he or she "must establish to a reasonable certainty by the greater weight of the credible evidence." Wis. Stat. § 971.15(3).

³ For felonies committed prior to July 30, 2002, and misdemeanors, the commitment and confinement may be for a period up to two-thirds of the maximum term of imprisonment that could be imposed for the offense. Wis. Stat. § 971.17(1)(a),(d).

⁴ Throughout this brief, the phrases "NGI plea" or "plea of NGI", refer to a plea of NGI entered on its own without an accompanying plea of not guilty.

When an NGI plea is joined with a plea of not guilty, the case is set for a bifurcated trial in which the issues of guilt and responsibility are separated. Wis. Stat. § 971.165(1)(a). "The plea of not guilty shall be determined first and the plea of not guilty by reason of mental disease or defect shall determined second." Wis. Stat. § 971.165(1)(a). If the defendant is found not guilty in the first phase, a judgment of acquittal is entered and the trial concludes. Wis. Stat. § 971.165(1)(d). If the defendant is found guilty in the first phase of the trial, however, the court withholds entry of a judgment and the trial proceeds to the second, responsibility, Wis. Stat. § 971.165(1)(d). In the second phase the factfinder determines "whether the defendant had a mental disease or defect at the time of the crime and whether, 'as a result of mental disease or defect the person lacked substantial capacity to appreciate the wrongfulness of his or her conduct or conform his or her conduct to the requirements of the law." State v. WI 67, ¶33, 355 Wis. 2d 617, Magett, 2014 850 N.W.2d 42.

When an NGI plea is entered on its own, it "admits that but for lack of mental capacity the defendant committed all the essential elements of the offense charged," and only the defendant's responsibility for the offense remains to determined. Wis. Stat. § 971.06(1)(d). "The court will find the defendant guilty of the elements of the crimes, and the NGI plea will be left for trial." State v. Lagrone, 2016 WI 26, ¶29, 368 Wis. 2d, 1, 878 N.W.2d 636. Alternatively, the parties may agree to

waive the trial on responsibility and stipulate that the defendant should be found NGI.

In either case – a full trial on guilt and responsibility, or a trial on just responsibility – if the defendant *is not* found NGI, a judgment of conviction is entered and the court proceeds to sentencing where the defendant would face up to the maximum penalty applicable for the offenses he was convicted of. Wis. Stat. § 971.165(3)(a).

If a defendant is found to be NGI – after a trial or through stipulation – the court enters a judgment of not guilty by reason of mental disease or defect and an order of commitment. Wis. Stat. § 971.165(3)(b). The order of commitment commits the individual to the department of health services. Wis. Stat. 971.17(1). The length of the commitment is determined by the offense(s) for which the defendant was found NGI. For felonies committed after July 30, 2002, the court may commit the individual "for a specified period not exceeding the maximum term of confinement in prison that could be imposed on an offender convicted of thesame felony, imprisonment authorized by any applicable penalty enhancement statutes. subject the credit provisions of s. 973.155." Wis. Stat. § 971.17(1)(b). On misdemeanors, the court may impose a commitment for a specified period up to two-thirds of the maximum sentence which could be imposed on a person convicted of the offense, plus imprisonment authorized by penalty enhancers, less any sentence credit available. Wis. Stat. § 971.17(1)(d).

In addition to the length of commitment, the commitment order shall specify whether it is for institutional care or conditional release. Wis. Stat. § 971.17(3)(a). If the court orders institutional care, the individual is placed in an institution under Wis. Stat. § 51.37, and will remain there unless a petition for conditional release is filed and granted. Wis. Stat. § 971.17(3)(c), (4). If the commitment is for conditional release, the individual is subject to conditions set by the court and rules established by the department of health services. Wis. Stat. § 971.17(3)(e). If the department believes that an individual has violated these conditions or rules, they may hold the person in the custody of a jail or hospital and petition to revoke the conditional release. Wis. Stat. § 971.17(3)(e). If conditional release is revoked, the individual will be placed in an institution until the commitment term is served or a petition for conditional release is filed and granted. Wis. Stat. § 971.17(3)(e).

Any individual on conditional release may petition the court to terminate the order of commitment, which petition shall be granted unless the court determines, by clear and convincing evidence, "that further supervision is necessary to prevent a significant risk of bodily harm to the person or to others or of serious property damage." Wis. Stat. § 971.17(5).

B. History of Wisconsin's NGI law.

"Wisconsin has recognized an insanity defense since statehood." *Magett*, 2014 WI 67, ¶35. Over the years, the definition of insanity, the procedure through which the defense is presented, and the burden of proof for establishing it, have changed. *Id.*, ¶¶35-38. Initially, the state had the burden to establish beyond a reasonable doubt, in one continuous trial, that a defendant did not have a mental disease or defect. *Id.*, ¶37.

This court subsequently decided to give defendants the option of taking on the burden of proof to establish the defense by a preponderance of the evidence under the less stringent American Law Institute definition of insanity, and also bifurcated the guilt and responsibility findings into two phases of the trial. *Id*.

Finally, in 1968, the legislature adopted the current standard, codifying the bifurcated trial procedure and shifting the burden to the defendant to establish the defense by a preponderance of the evidence. *Id.*, ¶38.

While the evolution of the insanity defense has brought the responsibility phase close to a civil trial, it remains "in a category of its own." Id., ¶40. This court has noted that "the mental responsibility phase is not 'purely civil", it is "a special proceeding in the dispositional phase of a criminal proceeding — a proceeding that is not criminal in its attributes or

purposes." Lagrone, 2016 WI 26, ¶34; State v. Koput, 142 Wis. 2d 370, 397, 418 N.W.2d 804 (1988)(declining to label the responsibility phase a "civil proceeding").

C. In *Bangert* and *Shegrud* this court exercised its superintending and administrative authority to ensure that guilty, no contest, and NGI pleas are knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily entered.

It is well settled that "the constitutional validity of a plea must be measured in terms of whether it was entered knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently." State v. Bangert, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 257, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986). Accordingly, the Wisconsin legislature created Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1) which states that, prior to accepting a guilty or no contest plea, defendant circuit must "[a]ddress the courts personally and determine that the plea is made voluntarily with understanding of the nature of the charge and the potential punishment if convicted." Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(a).

This court used its superintending and administrative authority over circuit courts in *State v. Bangert*, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986) to expand upon this statutory requirement. Noting that the United States Constitution did not require or set forth a specific procedure for accepting a no contest or guilty plea, this court made it mandatory that circuit courts, at plea hearings, undertake a personal

colloquy with the defendant to ascertain his understanding of the nature of the charge and the constitutional rights he is waiving. *Id.* at 255, 267-272. This court stated that, "[t]he duty to inform, although not expressly required by Section 971.08, is a logical outgrowth of the constitutional standard that a defendant's plea be knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently entered." *Id.* at 269-270.

In *State v. Brown*, 2006 WI 100, 293 Wis. 2d 594, 716 N.W.2d 906, this court restated and supplemented the *Bangert* requirements. Specifically, it held that in order to fulfill its duties under Wis. Stat. § 971.08 and *Bangert*, a circuit court accepting a plea must address the defendant personally and,

- (1) Determine the extent of the defendant's education and general comprehension so as to assess the defendant's capacity to understand the issues at the hearing;
- (2) Ascertain whether any promises, agreements, or threats were made in connection with the defendant's anticipated plea, his appearance at the hearing, or any decision to forgo an attorney;
- (3) Alert the defendant to the possibility that an attorney may discover defenses or mitigating circumstances that would not be apparent to a layman such as the defendant;
- (4) Ensure the defendant understands that if he is indigent and cannot afford an attorney, an

attorney will be provided at no expense to him;

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