No. 16AP2258

# RECEIVED

## 12-03-2018

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT In the Supreme Court of Wisconsin

> STATE OF WISCONSIN, PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT,

> > v.

COREY R. FUGERE, DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

On Appeal From The Chippewa County Circuit Court, The Honorable Roderick A. Cameron, Presiding, Case No. 15CF169

#### **RESPONSE BRIEF OF THE STATE OF WISCONSIN**

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

MISHA TSEYTLIN Solicitor General

LUKE N. BERG Deputy Solicitor General *Counsel of Record* 

TIFFANY M. WINTER Assistant Attorney General

Wisconsin Department of Justice 17 West Main Street P.O. Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 bergln@doj.state.wi.us (608) 266-3056

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

3. Even putting these precedents aside and freshly applying the intent-effects test that this Court adopted in *Muldrow*, NGI commitment is clearly non-punitive.

Fugere concedes that "[t]he legislature did not intend NGI commitments... to be punitive." Opening Br. 32–33. He argues instead that the effects of NGI commitment are so punitive that they override the Legislature's non-punitive intent, Opening Br. 33–39, but he falls far short of meeting his "heavy burden" to negate legislative intent, *Hendricks*, 521 U.S. at 361; *Muldrow*, 2018 WI 52, ¶ 49. Indeed, Fugere discusses only three of the seven *Mendoza-Martinez* factors, Opening Br. 33–39, therefore conceding the remaining four. Fugere argues that NGI commitment "involves a disability or restraint, applies to criminal behavior, [and] is excessive in relation to its alternative, non-criminal purpose," Opening Br. 33–39 (factors (1), (5), and (7)), but he is wrong about the latter two.

Rationally Connected To An Alternative Purpose. "[T]he most significant factor" in determining whether a statute's effects are punitive is whether the statute bears a rational connection to an alternative, non-punitive purpose. Muldrow, 2018 WI 52, ¶ 57. In Muldrow, this Court held that lifetime GPS tracking of sex offenders is non-punitive because its purpose is "protecting the public from future sex offenses," and lifetime GPS tracking is rationally connected to that legitimate non-punitive purpose. Id. ¶¶ 57–59. For NGI commitment, both this Court and the U.S. Supreme Court have already held that NGI commitment serves a similar non-punitive purpose: "to treat the NGI acquittee's mental illness and to protect the acquittee and society from the acquittee's potential dangerousness." Szulczewski, 216 Wis. 2d at 504; Jones, 463 U.S. at 368. Therefore, this factor weighs heavily in favor of finding NGI commitment non-punitive, and the other factors do not tip the balance.

Affirmative Disability Or Restraint. Although civil commitment involves an affirmative restraint, "the mere fact that a person is detained does not inexorably lead to the conclusion that the government has imposed punishment." United States v. Salerno, 481 U.S. 739, 746 (1987); Hendricks, 521 U.S. at 363; Rachel, 2002 WI 81, ¶ 45. Rather, confining dangerous mentally ill individuals for the purposes of protecting the community from harm is a "classic example of nonpunitive detention." Hendricks, 521 U.S. at 363. Not Historically Regarded As Punishment. Both the U.S. Supreme Court and this Court have held that "measures to restrict the freedom of the dangerously mentally ill ... ha[ve] been historically [] regarded" as "nonpunitive." Hendricks, 521 U.S. at 363; Rachel, 2002 WI 81, ¶ 50 ("Historically, an involuntary commitment proceeding... has not been regarded as punishment."). Further, the government has a "well-established authority... to restrain individuals' liberty ... on the basis of dangerousness" even in the absence of any criminal trial or conviction. Salerno, 481 U.S. at 749.

Does Not Depend On A Finding Of Scienter. NGI commitment not only does not require a finding of scienter, it is premised entirely on the *lack* of scienter. After all, an NGI adjudication is a finding that a person who committed a crime is *not* "[m]ental[ly] responsib[le]" due to a "mental disease or defect." Wis. Stat. § 971.15(1); *Lagrone*, 2016 WI 26, ¶ 1. This "absence of a mental state requirement is evidence that confinement under the statute is not intended to be retributive." *Rachel*, 2002 WI 81, ¶ 51; *Hendricks*, 521 U.S. at 362.

Does Not Promote The Traditional Aims Of Retribution And Deterrence. The U.S. Supreme Court and this Court have explained that neither retribution nor deterrence "underlie commitment of an insanity acquittee." Jones, 463 U.S. at 368–69. Instead, "confinement rests on [the NGI acquittee's] continuing illness and dangerousness." Id. at 369; see also *Randall*, 192 Wis. 2d at 827 n.17 ("recovery rather than retribution or deterrence [is] the rationale for [NGI] commitment").

Applies To Behavior That Is Not A Crime. NGI commitment applies only to behavior that the Legislature has deemed to be non-criminal. See Muldrow, 2018 WI 52, ¶ 56. While NGI commitment requires a predicate act that would ordinarily be considered criminal, see Opening Br. 34, a person who commits such an act as a result of a mental disease or defect "is not responsible for [the] conduct," Wis. Stat. § 971.15(1). An NGI plea is ultimately a plea of "[n]ot guilty," id. § 971.06(1)(d) (emphasis added), and commitment is imposed "in lieu of criminal sentence or probation," id. § 971.165(2) (emphasis added). In this way, NGI commitment is even less punitive than chapter 980 commitment. A chapter 980 commitment, unlike an NGI commitment, can be "triggered" by a criminal conviction, yet this Court nevertheless held that "a mere connection to criminal activity is not sufficient to render [chapter 980 commitment] punitive." Ra*chel*, 2002 WI 81, ¶ 58. An NGI commitment is triggered by an individual's mental disease or defect, combined with the which are criminal on their own. See Hendricks, 532 U.S. at 358.

Not Excessive In Relation To Alternative Purposes. Finally, NGI commitment is not excessive in relation to its rehabilitative and protective purposes. See Muldrow, 2018 WI 52,  $\P$  60–61. The statute requires a court to order conditional release unless it finds by "clear and convincing evidence" that release "would pose a significant risk of bodily harm to [the defendant] or to others or of serious property damage." Wis. Stat. § 971.17(3)(a). If institutional commitment is warranted, the department of health services must place the person in a facility "that the department considers appropriate in light of the rehabilitative services required by the person and the protection of public safety," id. § 971.17(3)(c). A person who has been institutionally committed may petition for conditional release every six months, and the court must order release unless the person continues to pose a significant danger. Id. § 971.17 (4)(a), (d). The fact that an NGI committee is "entitled to release" when he is "no longer dangerous" demonstrates that NGI commitment is tailored to its non-punitive purposes. See Jones, 463 U.S. at 368-69.

Fugere argues that NGI commitment must be punitive because, under Wisconsin law, the possible length of a commitment depends on the underlying criminal charge. Opening Br. 35–37; see Wis. Stat. § 971.17(1). According to Fugere, "[i]f treatment and protection of the public were the primary purposes of the statute, the length and nature of the commitment would be based upon the defendant's condition and treatment needs." Opening Br. 36. But the nature of the commitment *is* "based upon the defendant's condition and treatment needs." As just explained, an NGI acquittee can be either committed to an institution or conditionally released, and a court must order conditional release unless the person is dangerous. Wis. Stat. § 971.17(3)(a). Furthermore, the length of *institutional* commitment—the most restrictive form—is also tied directly to the person's treatment needs. If a person committed to an institution has successfully completed treatment and is no longer dangerous, he may petition for conditional release. *Id.* § 971.17(4).

The fact that the total commitment term (whether institutional or conditional release) is limited by the underlying criminal charge does not render the NGI commitment statute punitive. In *Jones*, which Fugere cites as support for his argument, Opening Br. 35, the U.S. Supreme Court held that the District of Columbia's NGI commitment regime was nonpunitive even though it allowed for lifetime commitment, well *beyond* the time that the person could have been incarcerated if convicted, 463 U.S. at 368–70. If that more restrictive regime is non-punitive, it is hard to see how Wisconsin's regime becomes punitive by limiting the maximum time that a person adjudicated NGI can be committed.

## II. Overstating The Maximum Possible NGI Commitment Does Not Warrant Plea Withdrawal

Regardless of whether this Court holds that courts must inform defendants pleading NGI of the maximum possible length of commitment, the court's error in this case does not warrant plea withdrawal.

A. On more than one occasion, this Court has rejected plea-withdrawal claims based on "small deviations" or "insubstantial defects" in the plea colloquy without holding a Bangert hearing. Cross, 2010 WI 70, ¶¶ 30–40; Taylor, 2013 WI 34, ¶¶ 27–54; Reyes Fuerte, 2017 WI 104, ¶¶ 37–41. In Taylor, this Court held that minor plea-colloquy errors should be assessed against the "manifest injustice" and "knowing, intelligent, and voluntary" standards, rather than by applying traditional harmless-error doctrine. 2013 WI 34, ¶¶ 39–41, 44–47 & n.11. This Court explained that plea-withdrawal claims will be rejected as a matter of law (i.e., without a Bangert hearing) if the "record makes clear" that the plea "was entered knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily" and that there was no "manifest injustice." Id.  $\P\P$  42–43, 55. Based on a concession from the State, this Court also held that the traditional "harmless error doctrine [does] not apply" to "alleged violation[s] of Wis. Stat. § 971.08 or other courtmandated dut[ies] during the plea colloquy." Id. ¶¶ 40-41 & nn.10–11.

In Reyes Fuerte, 2017 WI 104, however, this Court implicitly overruled Taylor's rejection of traditional harmlesserror analysis for plea-colloquy defects. Reyes Fuerte held that the harmless-error statute, Wis. Stat. § 971.26, does "apply to" defects in the plea-colloquy warning required by Section 971.08(1)(c) (related to the immigration consequences of pleading guilty). 2017 WI 104, ¶ 4. Although this Court's direct holding is limited to the immigration warnings required by Subsection (1)(c), the Court's textual analysis of Section 971.26's scope applies equally to Section 971.08(1)(a), the provision at issue in *Taylor* that requires courts to inform defendants of the "potential punishment if convicted." See Taylor, 2013 WI 34, ¶ 30. Because "[s]ections 971.08 and 971.26" appear "in the same chapter" and are "closely related," this Court in Reves Fuerte concluded as a matter of "statutory interpretation" that these sections "must be construed together." 2017 WI 104, ¶¶ 26–28. Section 971.26 provides, without exception, that "[n]o indictment, information, complaint or warrant shall be invalid, nor shall the trial, judgment or other proceedings be affected by reason of any defect or imperfection in matters of form which do not prejudice the defendant." Wis. Stat. § 971.26. If the "mandatory . . . command[]" of Section 971.26 "appl[ies] to" Section 971.08(2), see Reves Fuerte, 2017 WI 104,  $\P$  4, 23, then it should apply equally to the "potential punishment" requirements in Section 971.08(1)(a). Taylor's rejection of harmless-error analysis for such errors cannot survive.

There is an even stronger case for applying traditional harmless-error analysis to defects relating to the possible length of an NGI commitment. Unlike either the immigration warnings required by Section 971.08(1)(c) or the "potential punishment" warnings required by Section 971.08(1)(a), there is no statutory requirement anywhere for courts to inform defendants pleading NGI of the possible term of commitment. Indeed, that is why Fugere asks this Court to exercise its "superintending and administrative authority" to impose such a requirement. Opening Br. 15. But there *is* a "mandatory" statutory command to apply harmless-error analysis to any alleged defect in a "judgment." Wis. Stat. § 971.26; *Reyes Fuerte*, 2017 WI 104, ¶¶ 31–32. If this Court were to hold that traditional-harmless error analysis does not apply to the new requirement Fugere asks for, it would also need to exercise its "superintending authority" to create an exception to this otherwise "mandatory" statutory command.

A clear holding from this Court that traditional harmless-error analysis applies to all plea-colloquy defects would not only resolve the tension between Taylor and Reyes Fuerte, it would also align Wisconsin courts with the federal courts. As this Court noted in *Reves Fuerte*, "[i]mperfect plea colloquies in federal courts are subject to harmless error analysis" under Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 11(h). 2017 WI 104, ¶ 35. Federal courts apply harmless-error analysis even to plea-colloquy defects relating to the potential penalties. E.g., Dansberry v. Pfister, 801 F.3d 863, 867-69 (7th Cir. 2015) (misinforming the defendant that the mandatory minimum sentence was 20 years, rather than 26 years, was harmless); United States v. Westcott, 159 F.3d 107, 111–14 (2d Cir. 1998) (court overstating the maximum possible sentence); see United States v. Davila, 569 U.S. 597, 598 (2013) ("Rule 11(h) ... calls for across-the-board application of the harmless-error prescription.").

The question under traditional harmless-error analysis is whether there is any "reasonable probability that the error contributed to the outcome." *State v. Thompson*, 2012 WI 90, ¶ 85, 342 Wis. 2d 674, 818 N.W.2d 904. Translated to the plea-colloquy context, the harmless-error standard "naturally should focus on whether the defendant's knowledge and comprehension of the full and correct information would have been likely to affect his willingness to plead guilty." *United States v. Fernandez*, 205 F.3d 1020, 1024 (7th Cir. 2000) (citation omitted).

B. Whether or not this Court holds that traditional harmless-error analysis applies to all plea-colloquy defects, the error here does not warrant plea withdrawal as a matter of law.

1. The circuit court's overstatement of the possible length of commitment is clearly harmless under a traditional harmless-error analysis. There is no "reasonable probability," *Thompson*, 2012 WI 90, ¶ 85, that the circuit court's mistake had any effect on Fugere's decision to plead NGI. Fugere pleaded NGI in order to avoid a lengthy prison sentence, while mistakenly believing that the circuit court retained the discretion to commit him for as many as 60 years, notwithstanding the parties' 30-year recommendation. R. 84:12–18; R. 66:2. If Fugere knew that the upper bound of the commitment that the circuit court could have imposed was only 40 years, he surely would have pleaded the same way, as the possible outcomes were *more favorable* to him. *See Cross*, 2010 WI 70, ¶¶ 31, 41, 43; Westcott, 159 F.3d at 111–14 (overstating the maximum possible sentence was harmless error); Long v. United States, 883 F.2d 966, 969 (11th Cir. 1989) (per curiam) (same); United States v. Hughes, 726 F.3d 656, 662 (5th Cir. 2013) ("a defendant informed of the possibility of fines larger than any potential special assessment suffers no prejudice"); see also Cross, 2010 WI 70, ¶ 33 & n.7 (listing cases). In any event, the court adopted the parties' 30-year recommendation, so Fugere got exactly what he bargained for.

Fugere suggests, at the very end of his brief, that knowing the correct maximum possible commitment might have affected his plea decision because it was relevant to "how good of a 'deal' [] he got," namely, whether the deal "lower[ed] his exposure [to civil commitment] by 30 years, [or] only lowered it by 10." Opening Br. 43-44. But there is no indication in the record that the delta between the maximum possible commitment and the 30-year joint recommendation played any part in the negotiations or in Fugere's plea calculus. Rather, the core "deal" was that Fugere would admit to committing the act in exchange for the State stipulating to his NGI defense. The primary gain for Fugere, then, was not obtaining a certain recommendation as to the term of commitment, but avoiding a lengthy prison sentence entirely. In other words, by accepting the plea deal, Fugere moved from a potential 60year sentence (with up to 40 years in prison and 20 years of extended supervision, supra p. 6) to a joint recommendation for a 30-year civil commitment.

2. Even if this Court declines to apply traditional harmless-error analysis and instead analyzes the error as in *Taylor* and *Cross*, the "record [here] makes clear" that the error was so "insubstantial" that it did not "prevent [Fugere's] plea from being knowing, intelligent, and voluntary" or cause a "manifest injustice." *Taylor*, 2013 WI 34, ¶¶ 39–41, 55–56.

The error in this case was "insubstantial" for similar reasons that it was harmless under a traditional harmlesserror inquiry: Fugere pleaded primarily to avoid the potential for a long prison sentence; the maximum possible commitment he could receive (which was in fact *lower* than he thought) was insignificant, especially given that he received the commitment term he expected.

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